1992

Joy A. Hoagland v. Colin G. Hoagland : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The jurisdiction is proper before this Court under the provisions of §78-2a-3(2)(a), Utah Code Annotated.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether it was an abuse of discretion for the Trial Court to set the amount of alimony based upon the parties' standard of living prior to separation, rather than on the standard of living considering the parties' respective incomes at time of trial.
- II. Whether it was an abuse of discretion for the Trial Court to declare the home, currently titled in the Plaintiff's name, as marital property to be divided, rather than to accept the quit-claim deed given by Defendant to Plaintiff prior to the parties' separation and treat the home as Plaintiff's separate property.
- III. Whether it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny Plaintiff an award of attorney's fees where the income of the parties showed her need for such an award, the reasonableness of the fees was undisputed and the Defendant's income showed he had the ability to pay her attorney fees.
- IV. Whether or not the Trial Court erred in denying judgment interest on payments to Plaintiff upon a judgment for temporary alimony awarded to her prior to the trial herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joy Hoagland (hereinafter "Plaintiff") filed an action for divorce against her husband, Colin Hoagland (hereinafter "Defendant") on August 28, 1989. Record, p. 001. This case was tried before the Honorable Ronald O. Hyde, District Court Judge, on the 28th day of October, 1991. Trial Transcript, p. 1. The court took the matter under advisement and issued its Memorandum Decision on the 7th day of November, 1991. R., p. 272. Thereafter, counsel for Defendant prepared the initial Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as well as the Decree of Divorce. R. p. 293. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and the Decree of Divorce, were entered with the Court on the 4th day of December, 1991. R. pp. 293, 303. Plaintiff filed her Objection to Entry of Findings of Fact on December 12, 1991, R., p. 307, leading to the eventual filing of the Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, R. p. 335, and a Second Amended Findings of Fact. R. p. 355.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff and Defendant were married in Elko, Nevada on September 5, 1973. Tr. p. 7. When they were first married, they resided in Plaintiff's house in Ogden for approximately two years. Tr. pp. 11-12. In 1975, the Defendant convinced the

Plaintiff to sell her house and use the equity money of the Plaintiff's house to purchase another house. Tr. p. 15. In 1978, Defendant and Plaintiff decided to start a family partnership to run a grocery business. Tr. p. 117. That partnership consisted of the Plaintiff, the Defendant, the Defendant's brother, and the Plaintiff's son. Tr. p. 118. The business was so successful that they added two more stores. Tr. p. 123. During this time, the Plaintiff was working as a bookkeeper and a checker at the stores. Tr. p. 29. At one point, the Defendant did not want the Plaintiff to work at the stores, because Defendant had a girlfriend, "Kay," that worked there. Tr., p. 31. The Plaintiff was told by the Defendant that "he didn't want any part of my [Plaintiff's] home, and he wanted me [Plaintiff] out of the business." Tr. p. 32.

In May 1986, the Defendant wanted to incorporate the business. Tr. pp. 32, 122. The Plaintiff was already out of the store (i.e., she was told not to work there), and the Defendant desired to buy out Defendant's ownership interest in the business. He told the Plaintiff that he would give her a quit-claim deed to the house in exchange for her ownership interest in the business. Tr. p. 32. Both before and after the quit-claim deed was signed and recorded, there had been no creditors

contacting the Plaintiff. Tr. p. 33. At approximately the same time the quit-claim deed was given to her, two corporations were formed with the assets of the partnership. Tr. p. 121. In the Fall of 1986, the corporations filed for bankruptcy. Tr. p. 122. Just prior to the bankruptcy, the Defendant and his brother brought between eight and nine thousand dollars in cash into Plaintiff's home. Tr. pp. 18-20.

In January 1987, the Defendant moved to Las Vegas, Nevada to accept a position with Smith's Management. Tr. p. 8. In April 1987, Defendant invited Plaintiff to fly down to Nevada to see him. Tr. pp. 9-10. During that trip, Defendant told Appellant that he would be in Nevada one more week, and then come back home. Tr. p. 10. He later decided not to come home, but rather that they should get a divorce.

In April 1989, Plaintiff had to get a job as a seasonal employee with the Internal Revenue Service. Tr. p. 44.

The divorce action was filed by the Plaintiff on August 29, 1989. R. p. 1. Defendant was served with a Summons and a Complaint and with an Order to Show Cause for temporary support. R. pp. 5-10. Defendant filed an answer to the complaint and a counterclaim. R. p. 27. A hearing on the Order to Show Cause pertaining to temporary support was held. R. p. 11. The

Defendant did not appear at the Hearing, and did not file any responsive pleadings thereto. Id. Temporary alimony was awarded to Plaintiff in the amount of \$1,500 per month. R. pp. 22-26. At the time of trial, the Defendant owed to the Plaintiff back alimony in the amount of \$27,507.00. R. p. 359. Of this amount, \$21,935.00 had been reduced to judgment in a hearing held five months prior to trial. R. pp. 152-156.

After trial on this matter, the Second District Court awarded to the Plaintiff a Decree of Divorce, R. p. 303, and in the Memorandum Decision and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, held, *inter alia*, that the standard of living the parties enjoyed during the marriage would be determined as of the time of separation instead of as of the time of trial, R. p. 274; that the home was a marital asset rather than an asset solely of the Plaintiff, R. p. 276; that the parties were to pay their own attorney's fees, R. p. 277; and that the back alimony owed to the Plaintiff by the Defendant could be paid in payments without interest, R. pp. 276-277. The Plaintiff then brought this Appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- I. WHETHER IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO SET THE AMOUNT OF ALIMONY BASED UPON THE PARTIES' STANDARD OF LIVING PRIOR TO SEPARATION, RATHER THAN ON THE STANDARD OF LIVING CONSIDERING THE PARTIES' RESPECTIVE INCOMES AT THE TIME OF TRIAL.

Utah precedents indicate that where a divorce involves parties that were married for a long time and where the husband's income rose dramatically between separation and trial, that the appropriate standard of living is to be determined at the time of trial, basically asking what the standard of living would have been had they remained together. Further, the imperative to determine the value of marital assets at the time of trial is upheld by this analysis.

- II. WHETHER IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DECLARE THE HOME, CURRENTLY TITLED IN THE PLAINTIFF'S NAME, AS MARITAL PROPERTY TO BE DIVIDED, RATHER THAN TO ACCEPT THE QUIT-CLAIM DEED GIVEN BY DEFENDANT TO PLAINTIFF PRIOR TO THE PARTIES' SEPARATION AND TREAT THE HOME AS PLAINTIFF'S SEPARATE PROPERTY.

The doctrine of judicial estoppel requires that where a party (here, the Defendant) has taken a position as to property in court, and has received a benefit from that position, that he cannot then change his position in a later court hearing. Defendant has done just that by saying he transferred the house to the Plaintiff's name to avoid exposure in a Bankruptcy action,

and now wants to receive an interest in the house. Further, when he transferred the house to his wife's name, he received a benefit -- the Plaintiff's interest in the family business. He should not now benefit from what, in hindsight, appears to be a bad deal on his part.

III. WHETHER IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY PLAINTIFF AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES WHERE THE INCOME OF THE PARTIES SHOWED HER NEED FOR SUCH AN AWARD, THE REASONABLENESS OF THE FEES WAS UNDISPUTED AND THE DEFENDANT'S INCOME SHOWED HE HAD THE ABILITY TO PAY HER ATTORNEY FEES.

The Utah courts have listed the standard under which attorney's fees are awarded, and have made it imperative that the trial court make certain definite findings of fact prior to coming to its award of attorney's fees. The trial court did not make the specific findings, and had the court made those specific findings, it should have then awarded attorney's fees to the Plaintiff.

IV. WHETHER OF NOT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING JUDGMENT INTEREST ON PAYMENTS TO PLAINTIFF UPON A JUDGMENT FOR TEMPORARY ALIMONY AWARDED TO HER PRIOR TO THE TRIAL HEREIN.

The case of Stroud v. Stroud, 738 P.2d 649 (Ut.App. 1987), aff'd 758 P.2d 905 (Utah 1988) is simply one example that interest on a judgment is a right, and not within the discretion of a trial court. When the trial court ordered the Defendant to

pay to the Plaintiff back alimony owed, it abused its discretion when it further ordered that the back alimony, which had been reduced to several final orders, could be paid without interest.

ARGUMENT

- I. WHETHER IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO SET THE AMOUNT OF ALIMONY BASED UPON THE PARTIES' STANDARD OF LIVING PRIOR TO SEPARATION, RATHER THAN ON THE STANDARD OF LIVING CONSIDERING THE PARTIES' RESPECTIVE INCOMES AT THE TIME OF TRIAL.

The standard of review accepted by the Utah Supreme Court regarding alimony is:

We will not disturb a trial court's ruling on alimony as long as the court "exercises its discretion within the bounds and under the standards we have set *and has supported its decision with adequate findings and conclusions.*" Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144, 1147 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (quoting Davis v. Davis, 749 P.2d 647, 649 (Utah 1988)). Bell v. Bell, 810 P.2d 489, 491 (Ut.App. 1991, **emphasis added**).

It has been noted by this Court that "[c]onclusions of law, however, are reviewed for correctness and given no special deference on appeal." Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Ut.App. 1991). **See also** Bountiful v. Riley, 784 P.2d 1174, 1175 (Utah 1989); Smith v. Smith, 793 P.2d 407, 409 (Utah Ct.App. 1990).

The purpose of alimony is to "enable the receiving spouse to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living

enjoyed during the marriage and prevent the spouse from becoming a public charge." Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986) and Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985). **See also** Bushnell v. Bushnell, 649 P.2d 85, 87 (Utah 1982) (same standard used regarding temporary support).

The case of Howell v. Howell, supra, is a case that contains many parallels to the instant case, and should be regarded closely. In Howell, during the last five years of the marriage, the Plaintiff's income was five thousand, six hundred dollars (\$5,600) per month, and was at that level when the parties separated. However, at the time of trial two years later, Plaintiff's income had raised to ten thousand, one hundred and twenty dollars (\$10,120) per month. This Court found that the large salary increase was due in part to the Plaintiff and Defendant "having persevered during the lean times", id. at 1212; much as it was likely the Defendant's experience owning his own stores that led to his being given the position with Smith's Management in 1987.

This Court in Howell also held, under the fact situation before it, that it was inequitable to fix alimony based simply upon the income at the time of separation. First, this

Court held that looking to the time of trial, rather than another time, given the facts presented,

can properly address what situation would have existed if the parties had not separated earlier. In this case, post separation substantial increase in plaintiff's income was akin to a *deferred income*. In light of the facts of this case, we conclude that the trial court erred in looking at the pre-separation standard of living in setting alimony, but should have instead considered the standard of living "during the marriage" up to the time of trial.

Howell, 806 P.2d at 1212 (emphasis added).

In much the same way, in the instant case, the Defendant was not making much money during the marriage to the Plaintiff -- their own comparable "lean times" -- but after moving out of the family home (but prior to requesting a divorce), Plaintiff began making much better money working for Smith's Management Corp -- a kind of deferred income. His highest salary was in 1990, when he made \$73,302 from Smith's. Tr., p. 129. Income at the time of trial, less because of his arthritis condition necessitating a job change within Smith's, was approximately \$56,000 per year, more than double the average salary earned during the marriage of \$500 per week.

The Howell decision emphasized several sources as precedent in coming to their decision on alimony. One case cited, Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076 (Utah 1988), discussed

how alimony should try to "equalize the parties' respective standards of living enjoyed during the marriage." Id. at 1081. In attempting to equalize the standards of living of the litigants in their case, this Court in Howell compared the incomes of the two parties as awarded at the time of separation, and at the time of trial.

In the instant case, if you subtract the trial court's award of alimony to the Plaintiff, Defendant will still be making \$44,000 per year (not including bonuses), as compared to Plaintiff's \$13,380.00 per year she makes working for the Internal Revenue Service (plus alimony as awarded by the court). It is clear that the wide void between the Defendant's income and the Plaintiff's income is in no way equalized if one takes the standard of living as being at the time of trial.

Other factors that this Court looked at in the Howell decision was the fact that the marriage was long-term; the Plaintiff was "approximately fifty years old, has minimal job skills," and has worked in the house during most of the marriage; that the Plaintiff's likelihood of achieving significant salary levels was slim; and, given these, Plaintiff was only capable of earning \$625.00 per month.

The fact situation in Howell is remarkably close to that of the instant case in each of the above-mentioned factors. At the time of trial, Plaintiff was 56 years of age, Tr. p. 2, and had been married to the Defendant for eighteen years, R. p. 273. The Defendant's earning capacity (currently over \$4,500 per month) far exceeds the Plaintiff's earning capacity (\$1,115 per month). Given her age and marketable skills, it is unlikely the Plaintiff will be capable of earning more than she is now. The parallels are such that Howell should be used for determination of the standard of living, e.g. at the time of trial.

Further, Defendant seems to miss the entire reason for determining alimony from the time of trial rather than from the time of separation: judicial economy. As the Howell court pointed out, fixing alimony at the time of trial "is further justified because any future changes in alimony are limited to instances where a material change in circumstance has occurred." Id. at 1212.

The Utah Supreme Court has determined that, in similar fact situations, the standard of living should be placed at a later time rather than simply "during the marriage." In Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983), the Court stated:

Where a marriage is of long duration and the earning capacity of one spouse greatly exceeds that of the

other, as here, it is appropriate to order alimony and child support at a level that will insure that the supported spouse and children may maintain a standard of living not unduly disproportionate to that which they would have enjoyed *had the marriage continued*.

Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d at 1205 (emphasis added). **See also** Naranjo v. Naranjo, supra at 1147 (Utah App. 1988).

Again, note the factual similarities: the instant case deals with a marriage of long duration (18 years), and the earning capacity of the Defendant greatly exceeds that of the Plaintiff (over \$4,500 per month vs. \$1,115 per month).

The reason that the precise definition of "standard of living enjoyed by the parties during marriage" is not frequently a problem is that the standard of living at the time of trial is usually comparable to that which existed during the marriage. However, the standard that is coming from the appellate courts leads to a conclusion that long-term marriages in which the earnings of one of the parties greatly increases, while the other party has few or no marketable skills, places the point at which the standard of living is determined at the time of trial.

It should also be noted that determining the standard of living at the time of trial is consistent with the requirement that marital assets be valued at the time of trial. Berger v. Berger, 713 P.2d 695, 697 (Utah 1985). **See also** Fletcher v. Fletcher, 615 P.2d 1218 (Utah 1980).

So not only in the interest of justice, but also in the interest of judicial economy and in response to the requirements that the Utah appellate courts have placed on the determination of alimony in cases with similar facts to the instant case, Plaintiff requests this Court to order alimony to be set according to the standard of living that existed at the time of trial.

II. WHETHER IT WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DECLARE THE HOME, CURRENTLY TITLED IN THE PLAINTIFF'S NAME, AS MARITAL PROPERTY TO BE DIVIDED, RATHER THAN TO ACCEPT THE QUIT-CLAIM DEED GIVEN BY DEFENDANT TO PLAINTIFF PRIOR TO THE PARTIES' SEPARATION AND TREAT THE HOME AS PLAINTIFF'S SEPARATE PROPERTY.

The facts of this case make the distribution of property, particularly the determination that the Plaintiff's home is a marital asset, clearly erroneous.

When the Plaintiff and Defendant were married in September of 1973, they lived in a house owned by the Plaintiff. Later, the Defendant convinced the Plaintiff to sell her house and invest the equity into the house which Plaintiff still inhabits. In 1978, the Plaintiff and Defendant decided to start a family partnership to start a grocery business. That partnership consisted of the Plaintiff, the Defendant, the Defendant's brother, and the Plaintiff's son. Later, when the Defendant wanted to incorporate the business, he told the

Plaintiff that he would give her a quit-claim deed to the house in exchange for her ownership interest in the business. The quit-claim deed was given to her at approximately the same time the business was incorporated.

The Doctrines of Judicial and Quasi Estoppel bar the defendant from claiming any interest in the house due to the fact that he quitclaimed the house to his wife in exchange for her interest in the business he was running. His stated reason for doing this was so that he could avoid having to list it as an asset during the bankruptcy of the business. He testified that, when the business was still a partnership, Utah Bank and Trust wanted him to give it a lien on the house as collateral on the debt owed by the partnership. Tr. p. 122. It was at that point that he decided that "I could see the bankruptcy coming and that's when I decided to form the corporate [sic] and quitclaim the house to my wife." Tr. p. 122. Creditors did go after his brother's house after he pledged it as collateral for the debts, and his brother lost the house. Tr. p. 123. By thus disclaiming any interest in the property in his bankruptcy action, he was able to save the house from creditors of the business, which received a discharge from indebtedness. To award the defendant an interest in property he previously disclaimed would violate

the doctrines of judicial and quasi estoppel and would thereby allow the defendant to manipulate the legal system in an unconscionable manner. The trial court erred in not recognizing this in its division of marital assets.

Judicial Estoppel or estoppel by record is a doctrine to protect the integrity of the judicial process from conduct such as knowing misrepresentation and fraud upon the court. Masters v. Worsley, 777 P.2d 499 (Utah App. 1989). **See also** Total Petroleum, Inc. v. Davis, 822 F.2d 734, 737 n. 6 (8th Cir. 1987). The Doctrine prevents a party who has obtained relief on the basis of a representation in court maintaining the opposite position in another action. As summarized by the Utah Supreme Court,

It is well settled that a party who has taken a position in prior litigation and has obtained relief on the basis of it cannot maintain the opposite position in another action.

Condas v. Condas, 618 P.2d 491, 496 (Utah 1980). **See also** Occidental/Nebraska Fed. Sav. v. Mehr, 791 P.2d 217, 220 (Utah App. 1990); Roy S. Ludlow Investment Co. v. Salt Lake County, 551 P.2d 1259 (Utah 1976); Mecham v. City of Glendale, 15 Ariz.App. 402, 489 P.2d 65 (Ariz App 1971).

To allow the Defendant to so change his stance that his conduct amounts to defrauding the Bankruptcy court is just the

type of action that judicial estoppel as outlined by the Utah courts is meant to prevent. Under judicial estoppel, the Defendant is estopped from claiming any interest in the house.

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