1992

# Joy A. Hoagland v. Colin G. Hoagland : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. IT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO SET THE AMOUNT OF THE ALIMONY BASED UPON THE PARTIES' STANDARD OF LIVING PRIOR TO SEPARATION.

Utah precedents dictate that three factors must be considered by the Trial Court when it awards alimony, and that there must be a clear abuse of discretion for the Trial Court's award to be overruled. The determination of the standard of living is very fact sensitive and the Trial has the discretion to consider various factors, besides the three factors to determine the standard of living that is most equitable given the specific facts of the case. The award of alimony to Appellant should be upheld because the facts support the Court's decision.

II. IT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DECLARE THE HOME, CURRENTLY TITLED IN THE APPELLANT'S NAME, AS MARITAL PROPERTY TO BE DIVIDED.

Credibility of witnesses is in the Trial Court's discretion. The Trial Court correctly believed the Appellee and found the Quit-Claim Deed was executed solely to protect the family home from the Business Creditors. A Utah case, Hogue, demonstrates that a home may be found a marital asset even where one spouse has quit-claimed all rights to the other spouse. The Doctrine of Judicial and Quasi Estoppel is not applicable here because Appellee did not disclaim his interest in the home in the corporate bankruptcy, and because Appellant did not raise these theories in the Trial so she is

barred from raising them on appeal. Regardless, the State of Title is not binding on the Trial Court and it has discretion to distribute marital property as the Court finds equitable.

III. IT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY APPELLANT AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES.

The Trial Court's findings are adequate. In the alternative, the Trial Court's analysis was sound based upon the evidence set forth in the record. In addition, Appellant did not present sufficient evidence of her financial need, to justify any change in the decision of the Trial Court.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING JUDGMENT INTEREST ON PAYMENTS TO PLAINTIFF UPON A JUDGMENT FOR TEMPORARY ALIMONY AWARDED TO HER PRIOR TO THE TRIAL HEREIN.

The "judgment" for temporary alimony referred to by Appellant is not a final judgment for purposes of Section 15-1-4 of the Utah Code. Further, neither temporary nor permanent alimony are governed by Section 30-3-10.6 of the Utah Code. Interest should not be awarded on past due temporary alimony payments before the divorce decree is entered.

ARGUMENT

I. IT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO SET THE AMOUNT OF ALIMONY BASED UPON THE PARTIES' STANDARD OF LIVING PRIOR TO SEPARATION.

The Utah Supreme Court has stated that "The most important function of alimony is to provide support for the wife as nearly as possible at the standard of living she enjoyed during marriage, and to prevent the wife from becoming a public charge." English v. English, 565 P.2d 409, 411 (Utah 1977). The Court goes on to state that three factors must be considered in fixing a reasonable alimony award: 1. The financial conditions and needs of the wife. 2. The ability of the wife to produce a sufficient income for herself. 3. The ability of the husband to provide support. See, Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985). In Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986), the Supreme Court stated, "This Court will not interfere with the Trial Court's award of such support in a divorce proceeding absent showing of a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion." The Court further states that the failure to consider the three factors as listed in English, constitutes an abuse of discretion. These three factors were considered by the Trial Court along with other relevant facts and support the Court's award of alimony, therefore, this Court should uphold the Trial Court's award of alimony.

From a recent case it becomes evident that the Court did not

abuse its discretion regardless of how the standard of living was determined. In Whitehead v. Whitehead, 193 Utah Adv. Rep. 8, 10 (Utah App. 1992), the Court found that where Mrs. Whitehead's monthly living expenses were "unsubstantiated," it was not an abuse of the Trial Court's discretion to deny alimony. Here, the Trial Court labeled Appellants' Affidavit of Monthly Living Expenses a "wish list" and adds that it "reflects a desire on the part of the Plaintiff to obtain high alimony rather than reasonably advising the Court of the Plaintiff's actual expenses." R. p. 361. Besides the discrepancies discussed by the Court, Appellant denied she ever spent close to the requested \$60.00 per month clothing expense, but stated, "This is what I should spend." Tr. p. 106. Under the Whitehead holding, the Appellant could be denied any alimony because she did not provide the Court with an accurate account of her expenses and failed to prove the first of the three factors.

A Trial Court is not obligated to award alimony in divorce actions, even where there is considerable difference between the parties' income. In Burt v. Burt, 799 P. 2d 1166, 1170 (Utah App. 1990), the Court stated:

"While equity should be the watchword as the trial court apportions property and calculates alimony payments, See Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P. 2d 1276, 1278 (Utah 1987), alimony may not be automatically awarded whenever there is disparity between the parties income."

In Newmeyer, 745 P.2d at 1297, the Supreme Court upheld the Trial Court's award of one dollar per year alimony to Mrs.

Newmeyer. The Court stated that although Mrs. Newmeyer had a relatively poor ability to earn income sufficient to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living that the parties enjoyed when married, worked at the time of divorce, but only 'episodically' and at low paying jobs during the marriage and her prospect for future earnings were not as great as Mr. Newmeyer's, Mrs. Newmeyer had received a majority of the marital assets. The facts stated by the Court match those in this case where Appellant received not only one-half interest in the marital home, but all the other marital assets the parties had accumulated. R. p. 358, 362.

The Trial Court's denial of alimony was upheld by the Supreme Court in another case. In Walker v. Walker, 707 P. 2d 110, 113 (Utah 1985), the Court found that the wife had not shown a unique need and even though her annual income of \$11,000.00 was only about half of the husband's annual income it was in the Trial Court's discretion to deny the wife alimony. Walker would also support the Trial Court's decision even if the Trial Court had completely denied alimony to the Appellant.

Another factor which is determinative in this case is the agreement made between the parties in which the Appellant agreed to forego alimony in exchange for all marital assets. R. p. 358. In Huck v. Huck, 734 P. 2d 417, 419 (Utah 1986), the Supreme Court



states that the agreements of the parties are not binding on the Court, but serve "as a recommendation". The Court stated in Nunley v. Nunley, 737 P. 2d 473, 475 (Utah App. 1988), that agreements between the parties should be "respected and given considerable weight in the Court's determination of an equitable division." Citing Clausen v. Clausen, 675 P. 2d 562, 564 (Utah 1983). Therefore, the Trial Court had the discretion to follow the terms of the agreement and deny Appellant any alimony. Equally within the Court's discretion, it divided the marital assets and awarded alimony, which allows Appellant to enjoy a standard of living similar to that she enjoyed during the marriage.

Other statements made by the Supreme Court support the Trial Court's decision. In English, 565 P.2d at 412 the Court states:

"This court ruled the trial court may properly consider a husband's historical earning ability, when he has experienced a temporary decrease in income, when determining the amount he should contribute for the support and maintenance of his family. This principle should be equally applicable, when the husband's experience prospers during one year."

The purpose of using historical earnings is to prevent a spouse from taking advantage of temporary circumstances in the determination of alimony. From the facts it could be observed by the Court that the Appellant is an opportunist trying to cash-in on the Appellees' post-separation financial success.

Financial contributions made by each of the parties to their

joint financial success is a valid factor to influence the Trial Court's award of alimony. English, 565 P.2d at 412. Here, the Appellee not only substantially supported the parties, but also the Appellant's four minor children from her first unsuccessful marriage. R. p. 356. Similarly, it was the Appellee who financed the purchase of the 1978 Delta motor home that Appellant sold for \$9,000.00. Appellant's Exhibit 7. Appellee also left the \$8,000.00 - \$10,000.00 with Appellant when he moved to Nevada, and sent the Appellant \$15,500.00 for mortgage payments before the Appellant filed for divorce and contributed a total of \$25,337.00 to Appellant between December, 1986 and the trial. R. p. 358, Tr. p. 100, 176. These facts support the Trial Court's decision.

The Court found the Appellant in good health, with no disabilities, R. p. 360. However, she only works as a seasonal employee of the Internal Revenue Service. Appellant went to great lengths to give a detailed account of her work history and her "persistent" struggle to obtain full time employment. Tr. pp. 48-57, 104. Appellant Exhibits 15, 23-30. Her age is offered as the excuse for her inability to obtain full-time employment. However, the Appellant did not attribute her failure to her lack of education or training, which is the one action Appellant blatantly refuses to do. Tr. pp. 84-85. The Appellee testified and the Appellant acknowledges that the Defendant offered to pay tuition and to financially support Appellant for several years so that she

could get the education or training needed to become a self supporting person. Tr. pp. 103, 159.

In Reed v. Reed, 594 P. 2d 871, 872 (Utah 1979) citing Wilson v. Wilson, 5 Utah 2d 79, 296 P. 2d 977 (Utah 1956), it states:

"The court may, and as a practical matter invariably does, consider the relative loyalty or disloyalty of the parties to their marriage vows, or the relative guilt or innocence in causing the breaking of the marriage."

Findings of the Court demonstrate that the Court rightly believed that the Appellee did desire and intend for the Appellant to move to Nevada and for the marriage to continue. R. p. 362. On the other-hand, Appellant abandoned the Appellee when he needed her the most. The grocery business had failed, and Appellee was forced to move to another state and live in much less comfortable circumstances than he enjoyed in Ogden, in order to obtain employment to support the family. His ego shattered, his life a mess, Appellant poured salt into his wounds by her refusal to move to Nevada to be with the Appellee, stating the house he had in Nevada did not compare with the home in Ogden. Tr. p. 80, 161. Under these circumstances, the Trial Court had discretion to favorably treat the Appellee.

According to Howell v. Howell, 806 P. 2d 1209, 1211 (Utah App. 1991), a case upon which the Appellant so heavily relies, this Court stated, "due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses. Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a): Jense v. Jense, 784 P.2d 1249, 1251 (Utah Ct. App.

1989)." The preponderance of the evidence in this case supports the Court's apparent credibility judgement in favor of the Appellee. Consequently, the Court has the discretion to make decisions which reflect its credibility judgement and favorably treat the Appellee in the Court's subsequent decisions.

Appellant seems to believe that Howell is directly on point with this case. This is an erroneous application of Howell. In contrast to the Howell case, there were no children born of this marriage which Appellant stayed home to raise. Even if it was only part-time, the Appellant did work throughout most of the marriage, while Mrs. Howell did not work. Also, the time between separation and the divorce filing and the Divorce Decree is twice as long in this case than in Howell.

The most important difference between the two cases deals with employment of the husbands. Mr. Howell never changed his job. He was a pilot for Western Airlines which was taken over by Delta Airlines. As a consequence of the takeover, Mr. Howell's income doubled. Howell 806 P.2d at 1210. This Court found that his salary increase was a type of "deferred income", even though as the dissent states, there was no commitment from Western that Mr. Howell's income "would increase if and because he stayed with the airline." Id. at 1215, n.2. But there is no way that the Appellee's income can be considered deferred income. Appellee worked for Smith's, quit to start a family business which failed,

then worked for Smith's again. Appellant's contention that Appellee's financial success was due to the experience of owning his own stores is ludicrous. Appellee was a store manager for Smith's before the parties married and was promoted to district manager only four months after the marriage. Tr. p. 117. The Appellant testifies that during the time the parties owned their own grocery business, Smith's repeatedly visited the store and tried to convince Appellee to resume employment with Smith's. Tr. p. 83. Finally, when Appellee did return to work for Smith's he was not made a store manager immediately. Tr. p. 127. His post-separation financial success was found by the Court to be a result of his efforts after the separation. R. p. 274.

When the Court held that the facts of Howell required a determination of standard of living at the time of Trial rather than at the time of separation, this Court wisely stated:

"In so concluding we do not intend to establish a rigid rule which must be followed in all domestic cases, but acknowledge that trial courts have discretion to determine the standard of living which existed during the marriage after consideration of all relevant facts and equitable principles."

Howell 806 P.2d at 1212

The principle applied in Howell is very fact specific and this Court did not mention or apply Howell to two subsequent cases. Rudman v. Rudman, 812 P. 2d 73, 76 (Utah App. 1991); Roberts v. Roberts, 188 Utah Adv. Rep. 26, 28 (Utah App. 1992). (No case was found where Howell was followed)

Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P. 2d 1076 (Utah 1988) is referred to by Appellant to show that alimony should try to "equalize the parties respective standard of living enjoyed during the marriage." Here again it is important to note the requirement "enjoyed during the marriage." The Court also stated that Mrs. Gardner had not worked for almost thirty years, and had actually enjoyed the benefits of Mr. Gardner's \$6,000.00 per month salary. Also, the Court mentioned that the amount of alimony awarded by the Trial Court was not sufficient to meet the needs of the monthly expenses listed on an affidavit executed by Mrs. Gardner prior to trial. Id. at 1081. All this drastically contrasts to the facts of this case.

As the Trial Court accurately found, the Appellant did not enjoy a high standard of living. R. p. 360. The Court found that previous to the parties' business bankruptcy and separation, Appellant's take home pay was \$500.00 per week. R. p. 360. The exhibits admitted by both parties show that the average annual income for the years 1983 to 1986 was \$2,701.74. If 1987 income is included, the annual average is increased to \$8,513.19. Appellant's Exhibit No. 17, 18, Appellee's Exhibits No. 15, 16, 17. Appellant's current income of \$9,780.00 or more is \$1,266.81 more than the parties averaged from 1983 to 1987. With alimony and her own income, Appellant will have an annual income of about \$22,000.00, "which is almost equal to that which the parties were

living on when the Defendant was drawing \$500.00 per week from his business prior to separation of the parties, and represents a monthly amount greater than the amounts set out in the Affidavit of monthly expenses as filed by the Plaintiff." R. p. 364.

Two more cases are presented by the Appellant in an attempt to show that alimony should be set to maintain "a standard of living not unduly disproportionate to that which they would have enjoyed had the marriage continued." Savage v. Savage, 658 P. 2d 1201, 1205 (Utah 1983), see also Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P. 2d 1144, 1147 (Utah App. 1988). It is worth noting that the Court in both cases stated in the opinions that alimony should maintain the standard of living "enjoyed during the marriage." Savage, 658 P.2d at 1205; Naranjo 751 P.2d at 1146, 1147. (Emphasis added) Even so, these two cases can be factually differentiated from this case to show that "had the marriage continued" theory is inapplicable here.

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